FILED

12/02/2021

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Case Number: DA 20-0469

No. DA 20-0469

CHESTER BAUER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Defendant and Appellee.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Third Judicial District Court Anaconda-Deer Lodge County, Honorable Ray J. Dayton

APPEARANCES:

PENELOPE S. STRONG 2501 Montana Ave. – Ste. 4 Billings, MT 59101 Tel: (406) 839-9220 Fax: (406) 839-9221 ps18rabbits@gmail.com Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant BEN KRAKOWKA Anaconda-Deer Lodge Co. Atty. 800 S. Main Anaconda, MT 59711-2999 Representing: State of Montana

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Did the Lower Court err in sentencing Mr. Bauer to 100 years on the incest charge, utilizing outdated information, such the Sentence Violates Federal and State Due process of Law?
- B. Did the Lower Court err in utilizing the Prior District Court's Sentencing findings in its Sentencing Decision, and in failing to require that the PSI and Psychosexual evaluation be suitably updated, and did it discriminate against Mr. Bauer, a/k/a Ms. Lee as a transgender person?
 C. Did the Lower Court Violate Mr. Bauer's Constitutional privilege against Self Incrimination by Finding as a basis for the exceptionally lengthy sentence, that He failed to accept responsibility for his criminal behavior?
 D. Is the 100 year Sentence for Incest, with a 35 year parole restriction, Cruel and Unusual Punishment, on the Particular Facts of This Case?

II. COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE FACTS AND PROCEDURE

A. Facts.

1. The Prior False convictions and Sentence.

On July 11, 1983, Mr. Bauer, at the age of 26, was convicted, after trial by jury, of serious felony crimes he didn't commit-sexual intercourse without consent, and aggravated assault. App. A, DC# 99-Defense Sentencing Memorandum, 1-18-01.

During that latter term of incarceration, on September 22, 1991, Mr. Bauer was severely assaulted in the 1991 "Riot at Max," was sodomized brutally, and severely beaten with head injuries. Id, p. 5, Exhibit B-Descriptive Damages Summary.

His conviction was premised on fabricated evidence, promoted by State of Montana authorities. Id, p. 2. His innocence was vindicated on September 22, 1997, when those charges were dismissed with prejudice. Id. Thus he served 8 years plus 354 days in prison for crimes he didn't commit. Id, p. 3.

 $\mathbf{2}$

2. The Intervening Intimidation and SIVOC Convictions and Appeal.

Then, while in prison he was charged and plead guilty to felony intimidation in 1991, and was sentenced to a 5-year prison term, concurrent to his previous sentences. *Chester Bauer v. State*, 1999 MT 194, ¶ 4. Another set of charges ensued on October 10, 1995, when the State charged Bauer with three offenses-Sexual Intercourse Without Consent, Intimidation, and Escape-arising out of an incident with a female inmate at the Blaine County Jail. Following a jury trial, Bauer was convicted on all three charges in March of 1996, and was sentenced to 20 years, with 10 years suspended, after an agreement was reached in which he also relinquished his right to challenge the jury's verdict in a motion for a new trial. *Bauer*, supra at ¶10-12.

The facts of the SIVOC case with the female inmate as victim were that in 1995, he served as a trustee at the Blaine County jail, and became reacquainted with a female inmate he previously knew. App. A, DC# 46- Defendant's reply to the State's Brief in Support of Just Notice,

p. 3. She went to his cell, undressed willingly and they had sexual intercourse. Id, p. 11. He was convicted, after a jury trial. Id.

The sentence in that case was reversed by the Montana Supreme Court on August 3, 1999 and he was resentenced on November 5, 1999, to 5 years on the Intimidation conviction, concurrent to the 9 years, with 4 years and 9 months suspended sentence on the SIVOC (Sexual Intercourse without Consent) charge. Cause DC 95-012, Amended Judgement.

Before resentencing Mr. Bauer, the Hill County District Court, the Honorable John Warner, ordered an updated PSI report and considered the same in the new sentencing proceeding. Id, p. 2. As a basis for those sentences, the district court ruled that Mr. Bauer had served about 16 years in prison and was not the same person he was in 1983, when he began that sentence. Id, p. 5. The court also found that that time in prison was sufficient to teach Mr. Bauer that rules must be followed and the public safety would be protected by supervision of Mr. Bauer. Id, p. 6. *Bauer v. State*, 1999 MT 185, ¶ 5, 295 Mont. 306, 307–08, 983 P.2d 955, 956.

3. The 2000 Incest Conviction.

On April 19, 2000, incest charges were filed against Mr. Bauer, alleging that he had committed that crime against his disabled daughter. App A, DC# 2 & 4, Affidavit for Leave to file Information and Information.

The crimes occurred on December 24, 1999, at his daughter's home where he was temporarily staying, while out on probation. App. A, DC# 95, Psychosexual Evaluation (attached to DC# 95- PSI report). He fondled her and then had unconsented vaginal sex with her. Id, p. 11.

Mr. Bauer maintained his innocence at trial and at sentencing, claiming she fabricated the charges, as he refused to allow her boyfriend to visit her, but ultimately was convicted after a jury trial. Id, p. 11.He submitted a letter for sentencing, in which he recounted at length, his debacle of being violently assaulted in the 1991 "Riot at Max" and then experiencing serious retaliation from both MSP staff and Inmates, when he was returned to that prison, after a stay at a Texas prison. App. A- DC# 95, PSI, Letter of Chester Bauer .

 $\mathbf{5}$

In the 1999 psychosexual evaluation, ordered by the Court, the examiner, Mr. Silvers noted Mr. Bauer evinced an interest in a "male/female" identity, in the Abel & Becker Sexual Interest Card Sort. Id, Psy Sex. Eval, p. 14.While he administered two well known psychological tests, the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory II (MMPI) and the Million Clinical Multiaxial Inventory- III (MCMI- III), Mr. Silvers didn't diagnose any mental disorders, although Mr. Bauer certainly presented with demonstrated PTSD symptoms, after his harrowing experiences, and violent assaults in the Riot at Max.

In his final recommendation, Mr. Silvers noted that Mr. Bauer was "cooperative with the notable exception" of denying committing the crime of incest against his daughter. Id, p. 15. Mr. Silvers also found this one of several "Negative Indicators," supporting his harsh recommendation for incarceration in a secure setting and a level 3 tier designation. Id.

Defense counsel filed a sentencing memorandum advocating for a non-custodial sentence, contending that given the threats against Mr. Bauer's life and vicious attacks, and the substantial and permanent injuries suffered in the prison riot, that any prison sentence would

constitute a death sentence. App. A- DC# 99 -Defense Sentencing Memorandum, p. 8. Exhibit B, "Summary of Damages" reveals that Dr. Will Stratford, psychiatrist employed at Montana State Prison, and Mike Skorude, a psychology specialist, diagnosed Mr. Bauer with severe PTSD, and flashbacks, noting he was reliving the gruesome murders committed during the riot, and his own anal rape that occurred during that event.

His physical injuries consisted of numerous neurological injuries, and one surgery required incising his head almost from ear to ear, to repair the extreme injuries to his head, face and nasal cavities. Id.

On January 24, 2001, the district court, the Honorable Ted Mizner presiding, sentenced Mr. Bauer to a life sentence, and also imposed a 20 years persistent felony offender sentence, consecutive to the life sentence for incest. App. A, DC# 103. The District Court gave the following reasons for its harsh sentence:

- Age, criminal history and mental condition of the Defendant;

- Inability to accept any responsibility for his criminal behavior;
- Particularly manipulative personality and sexually predatory nature;

- Inability to control his sexual and criminal behavior- in or out of confinement;
- Heinous nature of the offense and the victim's vulnerabilities;
- Virtually no prospects of rehabilitation for the Defendant, so he must be confined to protect society. Id.

Mr. Bauer appealed this conviction, but was unsuccessful. State v. Bauer, 2002 MT 7. In 1999, Mr. Bauer subsequently filed a pro se petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the Montana Supreme Court; OP 19-0358. The Court granted him extraordinary relief and remanded his case back to the district court for sentencing, as under the holding of State v. Gunderson, 2010 MT 166, the separate PFO sentence for the twenty year consecutive prison term was illegal on its face. March 17, 2020, decision in Bauer v. Lynn Guyer, OP 19-0358.

4. The July 2020, Resentencing Proceeding.

Prior to the sentencing haring, the lower court requested that both state and defense counsel file sentencing memoranda, before the hearing. Those were duly filed. App. A, DC## 125 & 126 (State's Sent memo & Def Sent Memo). The Defense attached three recent psychiatric reports to its filing, which stated Mr. Bauer was not at risk

for violence or suicide , had been diagnosed with gender dysphoria, and was undergoing hormone replacement therapy. Also, during the sentencing hearing, the defense counsel submitted Mr. Bauer's most recent Classification Summary from the Montana State Prison, which rated him at a medium level, and noted he was used mobility devices and had a hospital bed in his cell. Exhibit G, 7/20/20 Sent. Hrg.

The State contended that any evidence occurring after the original sentencing date should not be considered, arguing that the remand was simply to correct the facially invalid PFO sentence. Id., p. 2. It further stated that evidence from the trial "was buried by the sands of time," but the PSI and Psychosexual report were available. Id, p. 3. The State then argued that given the Defendant's outrageous conduct and "horrible" criminal history, the Court should issue a sentence that protects the community and should impose proper parole restrictions. Id, p. 4.

Later, during the July 8, 2020, sentencing hearing, the State corrected its position that subsequent conduct and events should not be considered by the Court. Sentencing Transcript (Sent. Tr.), pp. 30-31. It advocated for a 100 year sentence with no parole for 35 years, and

stated that was intended to "mimic" Judge Mizner's previous sentence of life. Id, p. 19, l. 18-21.

The Defense Sentencing Memorandum advises of significant changes in Mr. Bauer's personal and health status, including his diagnosis of gender dysphoria, and as a transgender person, and also that he suffered from Ramsay Hunt Syndrome, a fatal genetic disease, and could not walk any distance and used braces on his arms to write or use utensils. App. A-DC# 126, p. 2 (unpaginated document); Exhibit B facts sheet.

Attached to that memorandum were numerous certificates of classes and courses; Exhibits C&D, that Mr. Bauer had taken during his decades long imprisonment, as well as recent psychiatric evaluations that indicated he didn't suffer from suicidal ideation any longer, and was not at risk for violence. Id, Exhibit A.

At the sentencing hearing, defense counsel presented policies and procedures from the federal prison system for transgender persons, and Montana DOC policies on that topic, and advocated for a 40 year sentence for Ms. Lee, indicating to the Court that was how Mr. Bauer now preferred to be addressed. Sent. Tr., p. 45. He further emphasized

that his client, Ms. Lee, was again maintaining her innocence, as previously asserted. Id, p.44, ll. 15-22.

The lower court sentenced Ms. Lee, a/k/a, Mr. Bauer to a 100 year sentence, with no possibility of parole for 35 years, and before issuing that sentence, asked to review the prior sentencing judgment. Id, p. 41.

It cited these reasons for the lengthy sentence:

-His inability to accept responsibility and that he persists in his innocence. Id, p. 53, ll. 10-12;

- His sexually predatory nature and particularly heinous offense, Id, ll. 17.

The lower court also adopted Judge Mizner's conclusions that the Defendant has virtually no prospect of rehabilitation, and must be confined, in order to protect society. Id, ll. 21-24. It then commented that the only factor that had changed without dispute from the state was his health status. Id, p. 54, stating:

"Uh, I'm not talking about whether he digs chicks anymore....his sexual orientation...I don't mean to be facetious but we're talking about a sexual predator... he may, that may well have changed. I don't know to what extent it has?....I don't know that's part of his manipulation, and part of his way of getting along in prison?

Continuing the lower court further noted Mr. Bauer was a "crippled up guy," but still a sexual predator and then found him once again, like Judge Mizner, a level 3 risk to reoffend. Id, p. 54, ll. 17-20. It also commented that the court had not been presented with a new sex offender evaluation that changed his tier level Id, ll. 22-23.

Again, the court lamented it didn't have any evidence or expert testimony about his risk to reoffend. Id, p. 55, ll 1-5. The court then found that the prison policies and U.S. Supreme Court opinion¹ presented that very day, didn't provide sufficient evidence to refute the level 3 designation. Id, p. 55.

The lower court then stated if he got paroled, that it wanted him to complete the educational portion of sex offender treatment before being eligible, phase one. Id, p. 56. It then stated that while it could have given him 100 years without parole, it shouldn't do that because of his physical inability to be as dangerous, noting:

"He- guy can't even stand before me. He's a different guy, his self is different. I think to a certain extent that makes him less

¹ Attached to the Defense Sentencing Memorandum was the SCOTUS opinion of Bostock v. Clayton County, 590 U.S. ____, 140 S. Ct. 1731, 207 L.Ed 218 (2020)..

dangerous, not that he wouldn't try to hurt somebody." Id, ll. 11-19. Again, the court repeated that it had no information that he was less dangerous now than he was then. Id, p. 57, ll. 9-10. The lower court imposed a 100 year sentence, with no parole for 30 years. Id, p. 57, ll. 20-25. Additionally, he'd have to complete SOP I and II, before being paroled. Id, p. 58.

The lower court then said:

"My reasons for the parole restrictions are the same that were articulated by judge Mizner....." Id, ll. 21-22.

After quizzing both counsel about including anything else in the proclamation, defense counsel responded by requesting an order for chemical castration, which the lower court denied, stating:

"Not going to get into that." Id, pg. 59.

The Sentencing Order issued by the Court stated that the reasons for the sentence were the age, criminal history and mental condition of the Defendant, his particularly manipulative personality, in ability to accept responsibility for his criminal behavior, and the heinous circumstances of the offense, and that the Defendant has virtually no prospects of rehabilitation and must be confined to protect society. App. B, DC# 136.

No notice of appeal was filed by Mr. Bauer, but this matter has been filed as an out of time appeal.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defense counsel failed to enter any objection to an illegal sentence which was predicated on materially false information, and additionally, violated Mr. Bauer's Fifth Amendment right, as he constantly maintained his innocence. As these errors are of constitutional dimension, they implicate Mr. Bauer's fundamental due process right to be sentenced on accurate information, and to not be subjected to cruel and unusual punishment. Thus, the common law doctrine of plain error must activate to allow appellate review.

The lower court's failure to order an updated PSI and the companion psychosexual evaluation wholly deprived Mr. Bauer of his right to be sentenced on accurate information at this critical resentencing proceeding.

The 100 year sentence with a 35 year parole restriction, was on its face, excessive, and was unsupported by any evidence at the hearing. The victim had died. Mr. Bauer, a/k/a Ms. Lee was transitioning to the female sex, and couldn't use his hands, or arms without braces. He couldn't walk normally. His ability to commit new crimes was functionally limited by his physical disabilities. He enrolled in sex offender treatment but had to take other courses instead, as his life sentence had disqualified him for SOP treatment. Dr. Hill didn't reappear to corroborate her previous view with updated testing or anecdotes to show that Mr. Bauer was still "highly manipulative."

The lower court consciously ignored those new material facts, after promising to look at all the facts. Then, it reversed course, and incorporated the prior judgment and all its findings, but for the downturn in Mr. Bauer's physical health, in fashioning its sentence. The court's untoward comments about Mr. Bauer, a/k/a Ms. Lee's new gender status being manipulative and a way to exist in prison, as opposed to being a genuine life path, constituted a violation of that protected class, that is, being a transgender individual.

This resulted in an excessive, discriminatory, and unconstitutional sentence, a virtual life sentence, given that Mr. Bauer, a/k/a, Ms. Lee was 63 years old when sentenced, and numerous circumstances pertinent to the earlier life sentence had changed or dissipated.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standards of Review.

1.Plain Error.

State v. Finley (1996), 276 Mont. 126, 137, 915 P.2d 208, 215, acknowledged the inherent power of the Court to protect the rights set forth in the Montana Constitution, and held that the Court may discretionarily review claimed errors that implicate a criminal defendant's fundamental constitutional rights, even if no contemporaneous objection is made and notwithstanding the inapplicability of the § 46-20-701(2), MCA, criteria. Common law plain error is to be employed sparingly, on a case-by-case basis. *Finley*, 276 Mont. at 137, 915 P.2d at 215.

2. Review of Illegal and/ or Unconstitutional Sentences.

A sentence of incarce ration of a year or more is reviewed for legality. State v. Champagne, 2013 MT 190, ¶ 17, 371 Mont. 35, 305 P.3d 61. De novo review applies to whether a district court violated a defendant's constitutional rights at sentencing. State v. Haldane, 2013 MT 32, ¶ 17, 368 Mont. 396, 300 P.3d 657. An appellate court may "review any sentence imposed in a criminal case, if it is alleged that such sentence is illegal or exceeds statutory mandates, even if no objection is made at the time of sentencing." State v. Lenihan, 184 Mont. 338, 602 P.2d 997 (1979).

B. Mr. Bauer's Fundamental Due Process Rights to a Fair Sentencing Proceedings Were Violated.

The Highest Court of our country has held that a sentence cannot stand if it is based on assumptions concerning the defendant's criminal record that are "materially false," *Townsend v. Burke*, 334 U.S. 736, 741, 68 S.Ct. 1252, [1255,] 92 L.Ed. 1690[, 1693] (1948);

Bauer v. State, 1999 MT 185, ¶ 20, 295 Mont. 306, 311, 983 P.2d 955, 959; See also United States v. Messer(9th Cir.1986), 785 F.2d 832, 834 (noting that a defendant's due process rights are violated when a

court relies on "materially false or unreliable information in sentencing").

In Montana, a convicted defendant has a due process guarantee against a sentence predicated on misinformation." *State v. Osborn* (1976), 170 Mont. 480, 486, 555 P.2d 509, 513; accord State v. *Redding* (1984), 208 Mont. 24, 27, 675 P.2d 974, 976 (affirming that "due process precludes a sentence from being predicated on misinformation").

Here, the lower court ordered sentencing memoranda from both sides, but failed to order updated PSI report and Psychosexual evaluations. Sent Tr, p. 9. Both reports are statutorily mandated, and serve a vital function of providing accurate and material information on which a court relies to sentence a felony offender. see, Sec. 46-18-111, M.C.A.

Prior to imposing sentence upon a sex offender, a district court is mandated to order, and to consider a psychosexual evaluation as well as a PSI. Section 46–18–111(1), MCA. *State v. Hill*, 2009 MT 134, ¶¶ 31-32, 350 Mont. 296, 304, 207 P.3d 307, 313.

A PSI includes the circumstances of the offense and the defendant's history (including his criminal record and social history). Section 46–18–112, MCA. Psychosexual evaluations can include as much, if not more, in-depth information on a defendant's sexual history. *Hill*, supra.

The content of the PSI report is also specified by statute, and now requires very specific information, including a risk assessment, which was not required for the previous sentencing. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-112(a).

This Court has held that a presentence investigation report "is a vital tool of the district judge in arriving at what it considers a proper sentence." *State v. Radi*, (1978), Mont., 578 P.2d 1169, 35 St.Rep. 489,. The primary function of the presentence investigation is to assist the judge in making his determination as to the disposition after conviction. *People v. Edwards* (1976), 18 Cal.3d 796, 135 Cal.Rptr. 411, 557 P.2d 995. *State v. Radi*, 185 Mont. 38, 40, 604 P.2d 318, 320 (1979).

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