02/28/2022

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 20-0469

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 20-0469

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CHESTER RAYMOND BAUER,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Third Judicial District Court, Anaconda-Deer Lodge County, The Honorable Ray J. Dayton, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General MARDELL PLOYHAR Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

Phone: 406-444-2026 Fax: 406-444-3549 mployhar@mt.gov PENELOPE S. STRONG 2501 Montana Ave., Ste. 4 Billings, MT 59101

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should not review any of Bauer's claims under the plain error doctrine because he has failed to meet his burden to demonstrate that failing to review the claims would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice. If this Court reviews any of Bauer's claims, the claims should be rejected on the merits.

Bauer did not request an updated PSI or psychosexual evaluation, and the court was not required to obtain them. Instead, the court correctly relied on the PSI

and psychosexual evaluation that had previously been conducted and considered new evidence Bauer provided. Bauer failed to demonstrate that he was sentenced based on materially false information, so his due process claim fails.

Bauer's claim that his sentence is an abuse of discretion is similarly without merit. Sentences are not reviewed for an abuse of discretion, so the claim is facially invalid. Further, the record demonstrates that the court's sentence is appropriate and based on valid considerations. The court acknowledged that Bauer might be less of a danger now that his physical health had deteriorated, but the court correctly concluded that Bauer still remained a risk to reoffend. The court correctly determined that a lengthy sentence was necessary based on the nature of the offense, Bauer's character, his criminal history, and his poor prospects for rehabilitation through treatment. Although the court referenced Bauer's failure to accept responsibility, the court did not inappropriately base its sentence on that factor.

Finally, Bauer's sentence does not shock the conscience, and is therefore not cruel and unusual, because the sentence is reasonable based on the circumstances of the offense and the evidence that Bauer is a significant risk to reoffend.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews for legality a criminal sentence imposing over one year of incarceration. *State v. Moore*, 2012 MT 95, ¶ 10, 365 Mont. 13, 277 P.3d 1212. This Court reviews whether the district court adhered to the applicable sentencing statutes *de novo*. *Id*.

This Court has consistently held that it will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. See, e.g., State v. Reim, 2014 MT 108, ¶ 38, 374 Mont. 487, 323 P.3d 880; State v. Taylor, 2010 MT 94, ¶ 12, 356 Mont. 167, 231 P.3d 79. But this Court may review an unpreserved claim alleging a violation of a fundamental constitutional right under the common law plain error doctrine where the defendant invokes the Court's inherent authority and establishes failing to review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. Taylor, ¶¶ 12-13. An error is plain only if it leaves one "firmly convinced" that some aspect of the trial, if not addressed, would result in one of the consequences listed above. *Taylor*, ¶ 17. This Court invokes plain error review "sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, according to narrow circumstances, and by considering the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Williams*, 2015 MT 247, ¶ 16, 380 Mont. 445, 358 P.3d 127.

ARGUMENT

I. Bauer's claim that the court erred in relying on the PSI and psychosexual evaluation report produced after his conviction should not be reviewed under the plain error doctrine; if it is reviewed, it should be denied on the merits.

Because Bauer did not request that the district court obtain an updated PSI or psychosexual evaluation, he cannot obtain review of this claim unless he demonstrates that he is entitled to plain error review. Bauer has failed to demonstrate that failing to review this claim under the plain error doctrine would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice because neither the sentencing statutes nor due process considerations required an updated PSI and psychosexual evaluation.

A. The sentencing statutes did not require the court to obtain an updated PSI or psychosexual evaluation.

The sentencing statutes did not require the district court to obtain an updated PSI or psychosexual evaluation when both reports had already been produced following Bauer's conviction. The statute governing presentence investigation reports was amended in 2019 to make obtaining a PSI discretionary. Under the law in effect at the time of the 2020 sentencing, district courts had the discretion, but were not required, to obtain a PSI after a defendant was found guilty. Montana Code Annotated § 46-18-111(1)(a)(i) (2019) provides that upon a "finding of guilty to one or more felony offenses . . . the district court may request and direct

the probation and parole officer to make a presentence investigation and report unless an investigation and report has been provided to the court prior to the plea or the verdict or finding of guilty." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-111(1)(a)(i) (2019). Even the earlier version of the PSI statute, which did not apply during the 2020 sentencing hearing, did not require an updated PSI to be produced if a defendant was resentenced. Instead, the statute merely required that a PSI be obtained after the defendant was found guilty. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-111(1)(a)(i) (2017).

Unlike the PSI, which is optional, a court is required to order a psychosexual evaluation of an offender convicted of incest and other enumerated sexual offenses. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-111(1)(b)(i) (2019). The psychosexual evaluation must include "a recommendation as to treatment of the defendant in the least restrictive environment, considering the risk the defendant presents to the community and the defendant's needs[.]" Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-111(1)(b)(i) (2019). But there is no requirement that a court obtain an updated psychosexual evaluation if the defendant obtains a resentencing. Instead, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-111(1)(b) (2019) provides only that a psychosexual evaluation must be ordered if the defendant is convicted of one of the enumerated sexual offenses. Similarly, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-509(2) (2019) requires that a psychosexual evaluation be obtained prior to sentencing a person convicted of a sexual offense, but it does not

require that an updated psychosexual evaluation be obtained if the defendant obtains a resentencing.

In this case, a PSI and psychosexual evaluation had been obtained after Bauer was found guilty of incest. Both were relied on at Bauer's first sentencing hearing. Bauer's first sentence was reversed because it was not a proper PFO sentence. Bauer did not request that a new PSI or psychosexual evaluation be obtained before his second sentencing hearing, so he waived any challenge to the court's failure to obtain new reports. *See State v. J.C.*, 2004 MT 75, ¶ 46, 320 Mont. 411, 87 P.3d 501. Further, the court's failure to do so was not plain error because new reports were not required by statute. The court properly relied on the reports that had been produced after the jury found Bauer guilty of incest.

B. Bauer has not demonstrated that he was sentenced based on information that is materially false.

Bauer's due process claim should not be reviewed under the plain error doctrine because he has not provided any evidence to demonstrate that he was sentenced based on materially false information. This Court addressed the requirement that a defendant not be sentenced based on materially false information in *Bauer I* when it reversed Bauer's Blaine County sentences that had been imposed before his 1983 convictions were reversed. This Court explained in *Bauer I* that the Due Process Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article II, section 17 of the Montana Constitution prohibit a

court from relying on materially false information when sentencing a defendant. Bauer I, ¶¶ 20-22. But "due process does not protect against all misinformation in sentencing; the inquiry turns on whether the sentence was premised on materially false information." Bauer I, \P 22. Because "due process does not guard against insignificant or non-prejudicial misinformation introduced at sentencing, a defendant is under an affirmative duty to show that the alleged misinformation is materially inaccurate or prejudicial before a sentence will be overturned by this Court." Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Further, even if improper or erroneous information has been presented, the defendant's right to due process was not violated if the court is found not to have relied on the erroneous information. Bauer I, \P 24. To ensure that a defendant is sentenced based on accurate information, a defendant must be given an opportunity to explain, argue, and rebut any information that may lead to the deprivation of life, liberty, or property. Bauer I, \P 22.

Bauer has failed to demonstrate that any of the information the court relied on in imposing his sentence was materially false. Bauer's argument that the PSI and psychosexual evaluation were false because they did not account for changes that had occurred fails because he has not demonstrated that the changes that occurred rendered the prior reports materially false. Specifically, Bauer points out that he had "undergone drastic health and personal life change," (Appellant's Br.

at 20), but he did not demonstrate that, based on those changes, the prior reports were false.

The evidence supported the court's conclusion that Bauer was highly manipulative. Bauer argues that the court should not have relied on prior findings that Bauer was highly manipulative because there was not any new evidence to support that. But there was not any new evidence demonstrating that Bauer was not highly manipulative, so the court properly relied on prior evidence demonstrating that he was manipulative.

Most importantly, the circumstances of the offense demonstrated that Bauer was manipulative. In addition to preying on his vulnerable disabled daughter, Bauer lied to his probation officer about where he was going to stay, lied about his use of alcohol, and sent his daughter manipulative letters in which he threatened to sever contact between her and his family, discussed suicide, and blamed her for his decision to withhold birthday gifts for her and her sister. *Bauer II*, ¶¶ 9-13, 23. These facts all demonstrate that Bauer is manipulative. Additionally, Dr. Hill described Bauer as manipulative after observing him in the Montana State Hospital for six months. (Doc. 94, Dr. Hill letter.) Similarly, the sexual offender evaluator, Silvers, described Bauer as manipulative based on the differences in the answers Bauer gave during two different sexual offender evaluations conducted within a short time period. (Doc. 94, Silvers Eval. at 15.) The lack of updated evidence

addressing whether Bauer was manipulative does not establish that the prior evidence of his manipulation was false.

Bauer's claim that the district court "found Mr. Bauer didn't take advantage of sex offender treatment" (Appellant's Br. at 21), is inaccurate. While reciting Judge Mizner's reasons for the sentence, Judge Dayton observed, "[h]is lack of ability to gain insight or understanding from sex offender treatment or to control his criminal sexual behavior when in or out of confinement. That's all been established for me." (Tr. at 53.) It appears that Judge Mizner and Judge Dayton were referring to Bauer's failure to refrain from committing a sexual offense after already being convicted of and serving a sentence for another sexual offense. Judge Dayton may also have been simply acknowledging that Bauer had not completed sexual offender treatment, and therefore did not have the benefit of that. But Judge Dayton twice noted that Bauer had not had the opportunity to participate in sexual offender treatment, (Tr. at 27, 57), and Judge Dayton did not appear to be punishing Bauer for his failure to have completed sexual offender treatment.

Bauer also criticizes the court for referring to Bauer as a sexual predator, but
Bauer has not demonstrated that that term was materially false. Indeed, both the
psychosexual evaluation and Bauer's criminal history support the court's
characterization of Bauer. This was Bauer's second felony sexual offense. He
committed the offense of incest shortly after he was released from prison and while

he was on probation for sexual intercourse without consent. As both Judge Mizner and Judge Dayton noted, the circumstances of the incest offense were "heinous." (Doc. 103 at 2; Tr. at 53, 58.) Dayton preyed on his daughter, who was both mentally and physically disabled. These circumstances support the characterization of Bauer as a sexual predator.

Further, Judge Dayton's characterization of Bauer is supported by the sexual offender evaluation. Silvers found that Bauer was "a level 3 extremely high risk for re-offense." (Doc. 94, Silvers Eval. at 16.) Silvers observed that there was "little indication that Mr. Bauer would be amenable for either out patient or in patient sexual offender therapy owning to his current stance." (*Id.*) Silvers also noted that another sexual offender evaluator had previously found Bauer to be a "level 3 high re-offense risk sexual offender." (*Id.* at 15.) Bauer has not demonstrated that either Silvers's characterization of Bauer as a high risk of re-offense or the court's characterization of Bauer as a sexual predator were manifestly wrong.

Finally, the court was aware of the new information that existed, which was the decline of Bauer's physical health, his gender transition, and his completion of certificate programs in the prison. The court considered that information when sentencing Bauer and gave it the weight that it was due. The absence of that information in the PSI does not establish that the PSI was materially false.

Because Bauer has not met his burden to demonstrate that he was sentenced based on materially false information, this Court should decline to review his due process claim under the plain error doctrine. If this Court does review the claim, it should be rejected on the merits for the reasons set forth above.

II. Bauer's claim that the sentence is an abuse of discretion should not be reviewed under the plain error doctrine because sentences are not reviewed for abuse of discretion.

As Bauer acknowledges in his standard of review, this Court reviews sentences that impose more than one year of incarceration for legality only. *State v. Herd*, 2004 MT 85, ¶ 22, 320 Mont. 490, 87 P.3d 1017. A sentence is legal if it falls within statutory parameters and is constitutional. *State v. Martin*, 2019 MT 44, ¶ 12, 394 Mont. 351, 435 P.3d 73.

Because Bauer's 100-year sentence is a sentence of incarceration that renders him eligible for sentence review, this court does not review his sentence for an abuse of discretion. *Id.* Bauer cannot meet his burden to demonstrate that failing to review this claim under the plain error doctrine would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice because this claim is not even a claim that the court would review if an objection had been made. Claims about the equity of a sentence are instead appropriate for sentence review. *Herd*, ¶ 20. Bauer's claim that his

sentence is an abuse of discretion should therefore not be reviewed under the plain error doctrine.

Further, Bauer's arguments that his sentence is an abuse of discretion are incorrect for several reasons. First, Bauer incorrectly describes both his current sentence and his previous sentence when he criticizes the court for imposing "a virtually identical sentence of 100 years, with no parole for 35 years."

(Appellant's Br. at 22.) As noted above, Judge Dayton imposed a 30-year parole restriction, not a 35-year parole restriction. (Appellant's App. B at 3.)

Additionally, Bauer's previous sentence was significantly different because it prohibited him from ever being eligible for parole. (Doc. 103 at 2.) Judge Dayton's sentence gives Bauer the possibility of parole after serving approximately ten more years of his sentence, which is a possibility he would not have had with his prior sentence.

Second, Bauer's sentence was within the statutory parameters. Bauer acknowledged at the sentencing hearing that the court could impose a sentence of up to 100 years under the PFO statute. (Tr. at 11); Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-502(1) (1999). Even if Bauer had not qualified as a PFO, the court could still have imposed a 100-year sentence for incest. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-507 (1999). The court had the authority to prohibit parole eligibility entirely under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-202(2) (1999).

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